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ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

P.O. Box 21149

Juneau, Alaska 99802-1149

DECISION OF THE COMMISSIONER OF LABOR

No.9029364

IN THE MATTER OF:

CLAIMANT: 




INTERESTED EMPLOYER:

DICK DOUGLAS 




DEPT OF THE AIR FORCE

The interested employer appealed to the Department from a

Tribunal decision mailed March 29, 1991 which reversed a December

3, 1990 determination and allowed unemployment insurance benefits

to the claimant under AS 23.20.379. The Tribunal held that the

claimant had been discharged for reasons other than misconduct

connected with the work.

FACTS

The claimant was employed in a civilian capacity as a

maintenance analyst for the Alaska Air National Guard until

October 19, 1990. The last period of employment began in 1977.

He served under an assistant maintenance officer, who was in turn

supervised by the base deputy commander for maintenance.

On September 14, 1990 the claimant was served with a written

proposal to remove him from duty. He was given until September

28 to respond. He was discharged effective October 19. The

personnel action gave the following reasons for removal:

"Failure to observe written regulations and rules. False

statements. Insubordination and dereliction of duty."

The September 14 proposal to remove contained three pages of

charges summarized as follows: "(a) failure to observe written

regulations and rules, (b) false statements, (c) insubordination,

(d) discourtesy, (e) loafing; delay in carrying out instructions;

dereliction of duty." There were 19 specific charges, some of

which were repeated under more than one heading. The charges

covered incidents from March 21, 1990 to August 17, 1990.

The employer representatives testified that the general

reason for dismissal was the claimant's refusal to "subordinate",

as shown by his refusal to carry out assigned tasks, and his

defiant responses to management direction and counseling. He was

discharged for the cumulative effect of actions occurring over

several months.

The employer could not point to any single action which

triggered the discharge. Management simply became convinced that

the claimant's behavior would not change and decided to dismiss

"to promote efficiency in government service." The objectionable

behavior centered on two areas: 1) the claimant's response to

quality assurance reports, management counseling, and work

directives; 2) his failure to complete certain maintenance

summaries as required.

On April 2, 1990 the claimant was given a five-day

suspension for writing a letter to his immediate supervisor in

response to an unsatisfactory inspection report on the claimant's

analysis section. The claimant accused the quality insurance

inspectors of incompetence and dishonesty. He was warned by his

immediate supervisor about using "inflammatory and hostile

rhetoric" and distributing the letter to other members of the

maintenance section for review. He appealed unsuccessfully.

On April 30, 1990 the claimant was suspended for three days

for allowing his wife access to the base mainframe computer. He

appealed that action unsuccessfully as well.

On March 21, 1990 the claimant failed another staff activity

inspection. He was cited for not producing a self-inspection

checklist and failing to provide documentation that he had

performed an inventory of data processing equipment. He was also

cited for failure to produce a monthly maintenance summary.

On April 15, 1990 the claimant wrote a nine-page memo to his

supervisors. The memo was an item-by-item answer to the

inspection report. He described the inspection in part as

follows:

"[T]he kindest that can be said for the Quality Assurance section is that they are every bit as fair and objective as they have been in the past. The result of inspections of this caliber is that it could well be said quality assurance at this unit has become a contradiction in terms... I submit that the actions of the inspectors in this inspection demonstrate an unparalleled level of brazenness. It seems a safe assumption that they believe they really can 'fool some of the people all of the time'. Regrettably, the people they seem to fool most often are the 'managers' of this unit."

On April 12 the deputy commander for maintenance requested a

status report on certain monthly maintenance summaries for which

the claimant was responsible. The claimant responded with a memo

on April 16. In it he stated:

"Your letter is clear and convincing proof that either;

a.  
you simply do not understand the impact on the analysis area of the actions taken by yourself and Ltc. Nice

b. your deliberate intent is to so overload me with impossible tasks that I will get disgusted and quit.

I submit that, in view of your comments at the meeting held in Ltc. Nice's office today, the latter is by far the more probable intent. As such, I submit that your letter constitutes a continuation and escalation of the harassment pattern observed for the last two and a half months. … I find it absolutely fascinating that this is the result of management efforts to 'help' me. If your actual intent was to destroy the ability of the analysis office to support this unit then, even I will have to admit, you have done a remarkably effective job of it. However this situation does give new meaning to the term 'effective' management."

On April 18 the claimant was informed in writing that the

overdue maintenance reports were a top priority. His estimate of

four to five weeks to complete the delinquent reports for

November through April was rejected. The deputy commander for

maintenance directed the claimant to spend the majority of his

day on the reports and provide a weekly progress report. The

claimant's supervisor assigned him six hours each work day for

bringing the reports up to date.

On April 29 the claimant responded in writing to the deputy

commander for maintenance. This memorandum stated in part:

"Although your letter is replete with examples of the negative bias you have exhibited toward me, it is at least a superficial attempt to actually deal with the problem, however deviously intended. For that reason I have chosen to respond to your letter rather than that of [the immediate supervisor]. His letter could best be characterized as simply ludicrous."

The claimant stated that he had made virtually no progress

on the reports in the past week and his progress would likely be

"all but non-existent" during the succeeding week. He listed a

different set of tasks he intended to perform. He accused

management of deliberately setting him up to fail. He repeated

his request to use "comp time" or volunteer additional time

outside work hours to complete the reports, a request that

management had refused because it was felt the claimant was

spending too much time on the job and the extra time had not

expedited the reports. He characterized as "harassment" the

management effort to have the reports brought up to date.

On May 2 the employer asked the claimant to prepare a

schedule of completion dates for the maintenance summaries. The

claimant responded with a six-page memo the same day. This

repeated much of the material in the earlier memo. He continued

to say that the late reports were caused by management actions

which had crippled his ability to support the unit. He

complained that he was not being allowed to do other jobs which

management would later hold him accountable for. He argued with

the request that he devote six hours a day to the reports and

only two hours a day to his other duties. He referred to the

management directives as "... the current round of management

harassment ..." He called the employer's proposed schedule

"ludicrous". He said he could complete the reports in 59.5 duty

days. He repeated a list of suggestions and directions to

management to expedite the reports, such as abandoning a planned

office move, and letting the situation stand "status quo."

On August 10, the claimant was again asked for completion

dates. He then wrote a memo to his immediate supervisor entitled

"Response to Management Harassment of the Day." He complained of

daily management harassments, management's assignment of an

employee (whom he did not want) to help him with the backlog, and

a variety of other subjects.

In another memo dated August 13, he argued with the

employer's schedule and provided a lengthy justification for his

own estimate. He called the employer's directive "... little

more than yet another thinly veiled attempt to deliberately set

me up to fail." He further stated, "I feel your schedule does

nothing but provide an excuse, however flimsy, for another round

of adverse actions. As such, it could well be construed as on-

the-job harassment and, with this letter, it is documented as

such."

On August 17 the claimant was warned about discussing his

grievances with other employees. The claimant denied doing so

initially but changed his response when he was shown a letter

from another employee.

The claimant contended that his January 29 response to the

inspection report was the triggering cause for all subsequent

events. In his view, the employer tried to "kill the messenger"

instead of dealing with the incompetence and dishonesty of the

quality assurance section. He described the maintenance reports

as "rashes". He considered them bothersome, insignificant, and

marginally useful, a pretext for management harassment. He

contended that the rules regarding "comp time" and extra hours

which were invoked to put an end to his 12-hour days were applied

inconsistently. He felt he did not have to obey an order not to

discuss his grievances with other employees, because any such

order was a violation of his constitutional rights. He also

contended that the employer's actions violated 5 USC 2302(b) (8)-

(9) because they constituted retaliation for his disclosure of

bad management practices and his exercise of his grievance

rights.

LAW

AS 23.20.379 provides in part as follows:

(a) An insured worker is disqualified for waiting-week credit or benefits for the first week in which the insured worker is unemployed and for the next five weeks of unemployment following that week if the insured worker

(1) left the insured worker's last suitable work voluntarily without good cause; or (2) was discharged for misconduct connected with the insured worker's work.

8 AAC 85.095 provides in part as follows:

(d) Under AS 23.20.379(a)(2), misconduct connected with work is any willful violation of the standards of behavior which an employer has the right to expect of an employee. An act that constitutes a willful disregard of an employer's interest or recurring negligence which demonstrates wrongful intent is misconduct. Isolated instances of poor judgment, good faith errors, unavoidable accidents, or mere inefficiency resulting from lack of job skills or experience are not misconduct for the purpose of denying benefits under AS 23.20.379.

CONCLUSION

We conclude that the claimant was not discharged for a

single incident, but for an attitude, expressed in a variety of

ways, which the employer called a refusal to "subordinate". This

attitude hadn't changed up to the point of the discharge. There

was no single triggering cause; the employer simply decided that

the situation had gone on long enough and would not improve. We

need to look, therefore, at whether the claimant's behavior in

general showed a willful disregard of the employer's interests,

or a willful violation of standards of behavior which the

employer had a right to expect.

There is no significant dispute in the record over whether

the claimant actually committed the actions for which he was

discharged. He wrote the memos, he complained about the employer

to other employees, and he refused to work the number of hours

per day on the maintenance reports that the employer had directed

him to work. These actions were described collectively by the

employer as a refusal to "subordinate".

The claimant contends that the employer has never proven a

single allegation against him, but he doesn't even deny that

these actions occurred. He simply contends that they did not

constitute insubordination or failure to obey rules.

The Department has consistently held that an employer has

the right to expect that a supervisor will be given such respect

that the supervisor's authority is not undermined. Hot-tempered

remarks by the worker, threats, or insolence, without due

provocation, constitute misconduct. In re Luper, Comm'r Dec.

No. 83H-UI-263, October 17, 1983. A worker who continually

places himself in opposition to his employer's best interest by

opposing reasonable work assignments, commits misconduct

connected with the work. In re Bartlett, Comm'r Dec. No. 87H-UI-010, February 6, 1987.

The claimant's memos to the employer were insubordinate.

The claimant argued that the employer disciplined him for how he

said things, rather than investigating whether he was telling the

truth. This is exactly the point. Even if his charges were

well-founded, this did not justify his behavior. He went beyond

legitimate complaints, grievances, or disclosure of questionable

practices. He repeatedly defied the employer's authority and

disrupted the workplace, despite repeated warnings. Provocation

may mitigate a finding of misconduct, but there is insufficient

provocation in the record for the claimant's behavior. The

claimant simply engaged in a running battle with management which

exceeded any reasonable response to the inspection report or the

suspensions. The claimant was not fired for his response to the

initial report, but for his later repeatedly defiant and

insubordinate behavior. The claimant invited a discharge;

indeed, he made it difficult for the employer to do anything

else.

The refusal to work as directed on the maintenance reports

was also insubordination. The order may have appeared unreasonable to the claimant, but there is nothing to show that it was outside his ability or the employer's authority. His duty was to work as directed, regardless of his own opinion about how this would affect the overall operation. The level of support provided to the rest of the operation by the claimant's section was a decision for the employer to make. He decided to substitute his own judgment for that of the employer, but an employer does not have to put up with continual argument from a subordinate in response to a reasonable order.

The order to refrain from involving other employees in his

grievances was not a violation of the claimant's free speech

rights. The employer has the right to prevent disruption of the

workforce during working hours, particularly in a military or

quasi-military environment.

The claimant, without sufficient provocation, willfully

violated a standard of behavior which the employer had the right

to expect and willfully disregarded the employer's interests. We

conclude that the claimant was discharged for misconduct

connected with the work.

DECISION

The Tribunal decision is REVERSED. The claim is disqualified under AS 23.20.379(a)(2) beginning October 21, 1990 and ending December 1, 1990. The maximum potential benefit amount is reduced by three times the weekly benefit amount.

APPEAL RIGHTS

Further appeal may be had from this decision by filing a

notice of appeal in superior Court for the State of Alaska within

30 days from the date of mailing of this decision as provided in

AS 23.20.445, AS 44.62.560-570, and the Rules of Appellate

Procedure of the State of Alaska. Unless an appeal is filed

within the said 30-day period, this decision is final.

Dated and Mailed in Juneau, Alaska on August 9, 1991.
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